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For Alison




 





Darrow was the most intriguing yet strangely contradictory man I ever knew. His compassion for the world was breathtaking. But he could break your heart, if you were not careful, because he was often more

concerned with saving comparative strangers than thinking of those who loved him most. You see, Darrow didn’t believe much in either—but he always said he wouldn’t mind ending up in heaven or hell. He had just as many friends in both

places.






—MARY FIELD PARTON







 





CONTENTS




1. Back in the Loop


2. Tangled Together


3. Darrow on Trial


4. The Bridge of Sighs


5. Beyond Good and Evil


6. Courtroom Whispers


7. The Book of Love


8. The Pinch Hitter and the Politician


9. Hellfire Preachers and Biology Teachers


10. Monkey Business


11. A Duel to the Death


12. Darkness in Detroit


13. Bittersweet Blues


14. A Peculiar Fear


15. Sweet Again


16. Slipping Away


Epilogue: Ghosts


Afterword: Something Personal


Acknowledgments


Notes and Sources


Index




 




THE OLD DEVIL








 





CHAPTER 1




BACK IN THE LOOP




The Loop, Chicago, June 17, 1924




DARKNESS SPREAD slowly across a city in tumult. It seeped through the burnt orange and faded red streaks of a sky that softened the stone buildings towering over her. Alone in the

Loop on a summer evening, Mary Field Parton picked her way through the teeming streets, slipping quietly past the blurred faces and babbling voices. And the farther she walked the more she lowered her gaze, as if willing herself to become invisible. The

dusk framed her own trepidation as she went to meet the man she had loved so long.




Clarence Darrow was America’s greatest and most controversial criminal lawyer, a battered sixty-seven-year-old defender of the lost and the damned. It was Darrow’s knack, and his fate, to be drawn to cases of such drama and dissent that

they received saturation coverage across the country. His fame was enshrined, but Darrow was revered and hated in equal measure.




The lawyer’s reputation skirted redemption and ruin again as he immersed himself in yet another complicated defense. Only one certainty remained. He would soon enter the courthouse and begin the most infamous murder trial of

his long career.




Darrow’s name, and those of Nathan Leopold and Richard Loeb, the two nineteen-year-old killers he would defend, echoed around Mary. Newspaper barkers, pressing hard to sell their final editions, shouted out rival headlines from adjoining street

corners. “Darrow,” they yelled, was “ready for the trial of the century.” “Leopold and Loeb,” who had confessed to the senseless murder of a young boy less than a month before, on May 21, faced their likely death

sentence with “an eerie calm.”




Mary did not share their serenity. She could not pull down a similar mask and ignore the threat her relationship with Darrow now posed to her own marriage. Her face, as plainly intelligent and practical as it appeared, felt on the brink of collapse.

She could have broken down and cried on the sidewalk if she thought too closely about the risk she had taken in traveling from New York to be with Darrow, her former lover. But the tears did not fall. A longing to see Darrow kept her moving toward him.

She wanted to hear why he had called her.




Their four-year affair had ended in 1912, but in the intervening twelve years, after the pain had ebbed, they had remained friends and exchanged regular letters. They had even met occasionally and buried their past feelings in talk of books and

politics, as well as gossip about former members of their circle who had known of their illicit love. But this was different. Darrow had written to her in a way she could barely believe, intimating how much she still meant to him and that he needed to

see her urgently.




His words were given a fierce charge by their jolting backdrop: a saga reeking of forbidden sex and murder. The curious case of Leopold and Loeb, the sons of two millionaires, fixated America and reached the world beyond in faraway cities like Paris

and London. Two weeks earlier Darrow had urged Mary to travel to Chicago to see him, and to bear witness to a new kind of trial that would test the limits of their intelligence and compassion. As a writer, and the woman who had saved

him once before, she felt compelled to be with him.




At the age of forty-six Mary was not some mindless fantasist or even a wretched wife. She had endured many difficulties with her husband, Lemuel Parton, but they had recently healed the raw patches of hurt in their marriage. Mary, having battled for

so long to reconcile her inner self with her public roles as a wife and a mother, had found a newly settled life. If her ambitions had narrowed at the same time, she had also found an acceptance of the virtues of marriage and motherhood.




Those feelings had shifted again after Darrow’s stark appeal to her. The familiar yearning for work and passion, for writing and recognition, seized her once more. Mary did not know if it was destiny or luck that Lem had already planned to be

away the following month, on an expedition to Greenland and Labrador, and so it had been easy for her to convince him that she should seek a commission from a New York newspaper to write about Leopold and Loeb—and, of course, Darrow. On the inside

she was tugged more by the beguiling fact that the man who had changed her life, and then hurt her, had called for her. Darrow had turned to her again, but Mary did not know what he might say when the moment came for them to be alone.




Even though the years seamed their faces, the same feelings lurked within her. If it did not move her in a way that once made her helpless to resist, Mary felt a pulse of the old desire. Her love for Darrow had changed, but it had not been entirely

withered by marriage to Lem. There was an awkward irony, a jagged reminder she could not quite ignore, that her eleventh wedding anniversary was meant to be celebrated in two days’ time—on June 19.




Mary could still not shut her mind to everyday responsibilities. As she expected to spend at least a week in Chicago, before returning later for an indeterminate period, she had brought her nine-year-old daughter, Margaret, with her from New York.

Mary might have wished to become the writer of her deepest imagination, but she could never forget that she was a mother first. She felt relieved now that her daughter was safe with a friend in Chicago—another Margaret, the older

and wiser Margaret Watson, who could guess the tangled feelings inside her.




The previous night Mary and her little girl had caught the express train to Chicago, the winningly named 20th Century, and hurtled through the blackness. Margaret had bounced up and down excitedly in the seat opposite hers. They had made faces at each

other in the window and had laughed at their reflections in the gauzy yellow light cast by the gas lamps above their heads. As the steam train rocked and whistled they fell into its rhythm, and, eventually, as her frenetic talking lessened and her pale

eyelids grew heavy, Margaret had allowed her mother to extinguish the lamp closest to her. Mary had settled her sweetheart down into the top bunk bed of their compartment and kissed her lightly on the cheek, before reaching for her pen.




In the gloom of the hushed carriage she had scribbled a few words on the page marked Juin 16, Lundi, in the diary she had bought earlier that year in Paris when time alone, and away from Lem, had revitalized her marriage. “Left for

Chicago on 20th Century,” she wrote. “Full of hope! Here is my start! Got a story from Darrow on this strange murder in Chicago—Loeb and Leopold, rich boys, precocious, everything to live for. Kill, brutally, a little boy of 14,

‘for the thrill’ they say. Whole country, foreign countries, avid for news . . . for explanation.”




When Mary began her affair with Darrow sixteen years earlier, at the age of thirty, she had been among that first wave of women who, in a new century, fought against social convention and demanded sexual equality. Determined to open herself to

different ideas, she now needed to understand the cold but entwined pair of postgraduates Darrow would try to save from death row. He believed that the roots of their murderous act lay in “a bizarre homosexual compact.” But how could he

explain away their terrible crime?




When she had looked through the diary, noting the blank pages where she had written nothing while ruminating over Darrow’s letter, she saw the last entry before leaving for Chicago had been on May 22—Margaret’s

ninth birthday. The evening before, on May 21, 1924, around the same time that Leopold and Loeb had murdered fourteen-year-old Bobby Franks on a whim, she had written just two innocent lines: “Last night M is eight. Kissed my little eight-year-old

for the last time!”




Everything had tilted on its axis since then. As one mother to another, she could only wonder how Flora Franks might feel whenever she thought of that same night, May 21, and the grisly image of two boys stripping her dead son, Bobby, and stuffing him

into a cement culvert after they had taken his life as casually as she had snuffed out the light in a gas lamp.




Less than twenty-four hours later Mary hesitated as she neared Darrow’s office. The Chicago Daily Tribune vendors, outnumbering their rivals in a furious circulation war, reminded her of Darrow’s overwhelming presence. They hollered

his name while waving copies of Chicago’s most influential newspaper. A block away from Darrow’s company, and ten minutes early for their appointment, she succumbed and bought the Tribune. Mary ducked into a doorway, opened up the

paper, and shielded her face with it.




She skimmed through the psychiatric examinations Darrow’s chosen doctors had carried out on Leopold and Loeb. “Somewhere in the lives of the two boys,” the Tribune reported, “the doctors are sure they will come across

some action which will give them the lead for which they are searching. It is said that the youths have a ‘skeleton in the closet’ which turned their minds toward the ‘experiment’ of taking the life of young Franks.”




Despite her grand plans to write about the trial, Mary was unsettled by the way the modern world flashed past her, in a deluge of cruel sensation. Darrow was twenty-one years older than she, and she could only begin to wonder how he might find a way

into the two frightening young minds that had shocked a city so accustomed to violence. The savagery of gangsters like Al Capone and Johnny Torrio had already turned Chicago into the slaughterhouse of America. There had been

assassinations and bombings, abductions, and even castrations among the 177 killings that blighted the first six months of that year in the Loop. But one murder gripped the nation. It took two boys, with their sharp suits and gleaming hair, slicked back

in a snappy Valentino-sheik style, to fix the public’s minds on a new depravity—the thrill killing of a child.




Only Darrow, she thought, would be able to find the words of pity and understanding these murderers now needed if they were to escape death by hanging. Much of his genius in the courtroom, and greatness as a man, resided in his rare ability to find

redemptive qualities in everyone. Darrow was a master at establishing a context of forgiveness in which to defend his clients. Hate the sin, he always said, but never the sinner.




He was not a handsome man—but a large and shambling figure with rounded shoulders and a face weathered by years of strife. His clothes were so creased that, even if they were newly bought from expensive stores in Chicago, it looked as if he had

been sleeping in them for a week. Yet part of Darrow’s attraction resided in his comfort with a look she described as “magnificently ugly” rather than tamely presentable. The romantic implication he enjoyed most was that he was far too

busy saving lives to be bothered by the trifles of appearance.




Darrow was like no man she had ever met, and Mary compared him to Tolstoy and even Christ. He listened to people, whether they were dissidents or murderers, and tried to understand them. Darrow did not judge them, for he did not endorse vague concepts

like free will or self-determination. He believed that personal destiny was shaped by heredity and the environment in which a person lived. External forces of poverty or wealth, love or loneliness, dictated a man or woman’s actions. Individual

responsibility was, therefore, less significant than social conditions.




On the page it looked a simplistic philosophy, but, in a courtroom, Darrow’s rhetorical flourishes snared the listener in a way that made it possible to imagine what it must really be like to live the life of the accused.

Darrow would often be so moved by his own words that, with tears rolling down his face, it looked as if he had lived through the same anguish himself. He knew what it meant to make an awful mistake. Darrow understood guilt and what it felt like to be

accused by the world outside.




Leopold and Loeb, however, would test him like never before. They induced both a psychological and visceral horror while conjuring up a picture of F. Scott Fitzgerald’s “flaming youth.” Mary’s parents, a fire-breathing Baptist

of a father and a gentle Quaker for a mother, would have been outraged by the flappers and petting parties of this very different age group. Yet Leopold and Loeb exuded something blankly amoral. It appeared as if they would do anything to alleviate their

boredom and reach some kind of stardom. In her last letter to Darrow, Mary had highlighted the words Fitzgerald had written four years before in This Side of Paradise: “Here was a new generation . . . grown up to find all Gods dead, all wars

fought, all faiths in man shaken.”




Mary quaked when she read that, before killing Bobby Franks with a chisel, Leopold claimed he and Loeb had been driven to act by Friedrich Nietzsche. The German philosopher’s book Beyond Good and Evil had supposedly fueled his and

Loeb’s theories that they were “supermen” existing outside the boundaries of normal society. It was hard to remember how often Darrow had exhorted her to study Nietzsche. “You must read him,” he insisted. “You will

love him. With all of his egotism and hardness, he is honest and brave and how we do like that.”




In the end, she did read Nietzsche. The title of one of his earlier books, Human, All Too Human, came to define Darrow’s complex character for her. Beneath all the high-minded thinking and courtroom battling, the attorney showed a

fleeting but almost unbearable tenderness. But she suspected they would not talk much about Nietzsche that steaming Tuesday night in the Loop.




Her life had once been wrapped around Darrow. She had felt that unvarnished appeal most clearly whenever he called her Molly. Darrow used that private name when he touched her or, more simply, brushed aside a strand of thick brown hair dangling over

her face. Even then she called him “Darrow.” She knew how much he hated the name “Clarence”; but she said “Darrow” in those secret whispers because it fitted both her lover and the courtroom icon he had been for so

many years.




The newspaper fluttered in her hands, as if she could barely contain either herself or its more ghastly contents. Mary understood the urgency of the press for she had been a part-time journalist for years—first as a political reporter

sympathetic to the struggle of labor unions against big business and then as a writer who harbored hopes that she might eventually produce books rather than articles. Her sense of a good story, combined with her close attachment to Darrow, meant that she

had been able to write at length about him in the past. He had tried for years, after all, to persuade her to write his biography. This time, perhaps, they might even begin work together on a project that had long fascinated and tormented her. She could

almost convince herself that her arrival in Chicago was propelled more by professional ambition than an emotional entanglement.




And then, giving into the truth, Mary trembled as she folded the paper away and glanced at her watch. It was almost time for her to meet Darrow.




DARROW SAT SLUMPED in his chaotic office on North Dearborn Street. A silvery pall of smoke hung around his huge head as he took another drag from his last cigarette. He would soon

push aside the piles of case reports and legal papers and saunter out into the sultry city where Mary waited. Darrow could see through the dirty blinds that the streets below were deeply shadowed as the sun sank over the evening rush of

Chicago.




The end for him, as an attorney, was near. It was one more reason that he had plunged headlong into a perilous trial. Apart from the prospect of a last big payday, a gravy case that would free him from the courtroom forever and provide the liberty he

craved to write fulltime, there remained one overwhelming reason for him to risk everything. Darrow ached for redemption.




He was an old man now, and there were days, weeks, or months even, when he felt the full weight of his sixty-seven years bearing down on him. At such times the bleak task of this trial appeared overwhelming. Darrow complained often of being weary and

decrepit, afflicted with rheumatism that made his joints throb and neuralgia that shredded the nerves in his face with random bursts of pain that could turn a wince into a yelp. In such a state he would never be able to force himself into the minds of

two boys and explain what they had done.




But, since writing to Mary, Darrow had been galvanized. He now relished the ferocious odds against him. In a month’s time he would take on the State of Illinois, as well as the mass stupidity of those across America who demanded vengeance

against two mentally diseased boys.




As always with Darrow, personal ambition and pride also drove him. The days and nights he had shared with Mary in Los Angeles twelve years before, in a Californian summer thick with the disgrace of bribery and the threat of jail, continued to haunt

him. Darrow longed to wipe the stain from his name with a bravura performance in defense of Leopold and Loeb. He would entrance those who heard him, making them think of something more forgiving than the death penalty.




Mary would understand. She knew better than anyone how far he had fallen during the last months of their affair. In January 1912 Darrow had stood on the doorstep of her rented apartment in downtown L.A. with a gun in one pocket and

a bottle of whiskey in the other. He had just learned that he was about to stand trial on the charge of bribing two members of a jury in a murder case that had gone disastrously wrong. Darrow looked utterly guilty; but Mary had rescued him that

night.




It would take another fifteen months to break the spell of the legal scandal that almost finished him but, though their friendship held and a hung jury spared him prison, their affair had buckled. Ruby, Darrow’s wife, who had been acutely aware

of his relationship with Mary, felt vindicated. She had always insisted Darrow would never leave her—and she was right. He stayed locked inside their convenient marriage while Mary returned to Lemuel, who was about to propose. Mary had said yes

almost instantly, and she opted for a different life with a husband she loved.




Her fleeting encounters with Darrow were no longer physical, and the new distance allowed Mary to see a flawed man more clearly. The trauma of Los Angeles scarred him, for he was still banned from practicing law in California and also remained outside

the fold of the labor movement—a group that had once revered him as its champion. After the events in Los Angeles they had turned against him, and their rejection had forced him to switch from labor to criminal law. Mary, just like Ruby, stood

publicly in his defense, but there were countless others who spurned or attacked him.




Edgar Lee Masters, the acclaimed poet who had been Darrow’s senior partner in their Chicago law firm, was his most vocal enemy. Masters had reluctantly collected testimonials on Darrow’s behalf during the bribery trials, yet his bitterness

had intensified. Convinced that Darrow was “as crooked as a snake’s tail,” Masters vowed that “I’ll make that son of a bitch the most detestable figure in American history.”




Part of his campaign included the crude lampooning of Darrow in a poem, “On a Bust,” which Masters published in 1915:








You can crawl




Hungry and subtle over Eden’s wall,




And shame half grown up truth, or make a lie




Full grown as good. . .




A giant as we hoped, in truth a dwarf;




A barrel of slop that shines on Lethe’s wharf. . .




One thing is sure, you will not long be dust




When this bronze will be broken as a bust




And given to the junkman to re-sell




You know this and the thought of it is hell!










The poetry was worn and clunky, but its vehemence hurt Darrow. He appeared modest in public, but, deep down, he considered himself a giant of the American courtroom. Masters’s coarse depiction of a deceitful “dwarf” struck home.

Darrow could dismiss it with a soft laugh, repeating his insistence that life, let alone a legacy beyond the grave, held scant meaning for him. But, as Mary knew, he secretly craved immortality.




He had often told Mary that he was at his very best when she was near him. Darrow was not sure if this sudden urge to see her came from his need to draw strength from her love—or if it was just his lusty superstition that Mary Field was his good

luck charm. But now, in the gathering dusk, with only a few weeks left before the trial, he needed her.




After they had parted in 1913, Darrow had felt the intellectual and emotional loss most of all. He had written to her, in one of his many letters, to stress that he felt “lonelier all the time . . . how I wish I could see you . . . I am always

the same as you knew me with my dreams and my loves and hates . . . and many, many of these are connected with the thought of you.”




Until Leopold and Loeb, his old life had felt partly rehabilitated, partly smothered, partly tamed. It sometimes seemed that, just three years from seventy, he was waiting to die. The risk and danger, the fervor and adventure, had

all gone. Even his latest book—Crime, Its Cause and Treatment—had been ignored on its publication the previous year. Yet Darrow considered it his best and most radical work, and he was certain this new trial would at last give his

book, and its theories, a deserved platform.




There was something equally radical, Darrow thought, in insisting that even the rich have rights. But Leopold and Loeb did not seem to be in receipt of the same basic rights as ordinary criminals. For that reason their families had begged him to take

the case, stressing that no lawyer in America could match his force of will or poetic eloquence. Only Darrow, they said, could withstand the hysterical public demand for retribution. Darrow, despite the might of his celebrity and the depth of his

intellect, was easily flattered.




He knew their story by heart now, but it still perplexed and fascinated him because Leopold and Loeb were the exceedingly bright sons of two Jewish millionaires. Nathan Leopold Sr. was a box manufacturer and Albert Loeb the vice president of Sears

& Roebuck. Their boys had more money and better prospects than almost anyone their age, and yet they squandered everything on a seeming fancy and an inexplicable motive. Loeb would consent to their continuing sexual relations on the condition that

Leopold helped him pursue the perfect crime. They had moved from petty thieving and burglary to kidnapping and murder—and, now, they were threatened with execution.




Darrow’s hatred of the death penalty was clear, but the Chicago Sun-Times told its readers he had sold out for a “cool million bucks.” They branded him a hypocrite who had spent his whole life fighting for the rights of the

poor and unfortunate—only to rush to defend the impossibly rich for a reprehensible murder. Darrow’s protests that a more modest fee would be decided by the Bar Association after the trial were brushed aside. All his diligent work since the

bribery scandal threatened to be shredded by this new controversy.




Compassion and hope remained. In his career-long battle against the death penalty Darrow had fought 102 such trials in which he had saved all but one of his clients from hanging. He had failed only in his very first case, when he

represented a deranged man, Eugene Prendergast, who had assassinated Carter Harrison, the mayor of Chicago, in 1893. Prendergast hardly qualified as a client, for Darrow became involved only at the very end when, having attended the trial in a personal

capacity, he took up the futile appeal after judgment had been passed. The loss of a man, even a certified lunatic, distressed him, for Darrow hated to see a mob quench their mindless thirst for vengeance.




He had once written to Mary that “Chicago is beautiful now and I am back in the old apartment with the lake and the park and green trees in front of me and the people so far below me and away from me that they don’t hurt. And here I think

of Nietzsche who says, ‘How did I soar to the height where there are no more rabble’ . . . [Nietzsche] is influencing me greatly against the rabble with its cruelty, its littleness, its prejudice, its hatred, its stupidity. That was not my

reason for writing this—but I want to see you.”




That desire illuminated him.




DARROW STUBBED out his cigarette and rose from his desk. It was almost dark outside, but he felt suddenly light and hopeful.




In the Loop the throng around Mary had parted and left a clear stretch of sidewalk. She glanced up as she turned the last corner and there he stood, having just left his office to meet her. Darrow looked a little older, but he now walked quickly

toward her.




The closer he came, the more plainly she saw how tiredness and even vulnerability framed his familiar features. The cleft in his chin was as deep as the lines creasing his high forehead. She noticed that, even though his black suit was disheveled, he

had combed his usually tousled hair.




They were less than a foot apart when, with his gray-green eyes shining in amusement, he stretched out his brawny hands. Mary was swallowed in his grasp as he studied her face. Her doubt slipped away, and she felt suddenly certain

that she had been right to answer his call.




“Molly,” he said softly, as if nothing had changed. He brushed his lips against her thick brown hair, piled around her head with an assortment of pins and clips. She felt him tug gently at one, hoping to bring it all tumbling down.




“Darrow . . . ,” she said.




DINNER AT the LaSalle Hotel, late that night, was finally over. Darrow and Mary were among the last guests left in a restaurant the city’s proudest socialites claimed could

rival any of the most expensive establishments in America. The LaSalle provided glittering proof that Chicago could define style and sophistication rather than just gangland mayhem and murder. Midnight was closing in, and Darrow had been talking softly

for hours. The case of Leopold and Loeb consumed him. Mary, too, had lost herself in his telling of a disturbing love story and murder. The boys sounded unhinged, but, in Darrow’s version of their lives, they touched her. Yet Mary, as a mother, was

still shocked by the depravity of a child’s killing.




Darrow reminded her that he would defend two boys who were literally children themselves. He would enter the court in a matter of weeks to fight for their lives. He had to save them, he said, as Mary felt the force of his mercy. It was easy to

remember why she had first fallen for him in this very city.




They spoke again of the night they had met in Chicago—and of the night that she had saved Darrow in Los Angeles. He had survived bribery and escaped suicide. And so here they were, back in the Loop where it all began, together again. It was

late, and they were tired. They stood up, Darrow allowing Mary to lead the way to the first-floor landing.




Darrow had booked and paid for her suite at the LaSalle. He had reserved it in her maiden name, which made her blush. But “Mary Field” was less a lie than an outdated truth, a wistful nod to the younger single woman she had been when they

first shared a sexual, emotional, and intellectual intimacy.




He would see her up to the suite, he said. “Thank you, Darrow,” Mary murmured, her fingers lacing through his as she held his hand tightly. Slowly, silently, they took two flights of stairs and then walked down an empty corridor toward the

room.




 





CHAPTER 2




TANGLED TOGETHER




CLARENCE DARROW and Mary Field had made a private vow. Every intimate feeling that passed between them and the walls of the LaSalle would remain in their

secret possession. The intrigue left Mary feeling briefly languid after his hasty departure from the hotel. She had hoped for a more leisurely time together, but Darrow was determined to slip away before he was seen by either a reporter or a curious

member of the public who might ask him for news of the looming trial. He was also intensely preoccupied with the need to return to work, shrugging aside Mary’s suggestion that he should rest before rushing back to his office.




In a pale dawn, with Chicago looking subdued and almost peaceful, she had risen from her hotel bed and thrown open the shutters. Mary gazed down at the city where she had met Darrow sixteen years before, not far from where she now leaned over the

balcony. The man she loved most was the radical idealist from the past, the pioneering attorney who stood up to protect the innocent, the exploited, and the unjustly accused. Perhaps that was why he seemed so unsettled by the difficulties of representing

Leopold and Loeb—for their cruel and random murder of an innocent boy was blurred by layers of extreme privilege and indolence. They did not look desperate. To most ordinary people they just looked evil.




Mary drifted back into the room and, sitting on the edge of a bedraggled bed, she scrawled a few lines in her French diary, on a page marked Juin 17, Mardi: “Darrow is brooding over this case that focuses millions of eyes upon him. Talks

of pathology, philosophy, etc. Same old Darrow, giggling and chuckling at the human race whose elephant feet and ostrich head he so loathes—and pities.”




When she held the diary up close to her face, Mary imagined that she could still smell the scent of Paris in its pages. Six months before she had bought that leather-bound volume marked 1924 in a bookshop tucked away on a hilly side street in

Montmartre, from where you could clearly see the Eiffel Tower. She would never have dared believe, then, that she would be back with Darrow that very summer. But her journey from Paris to Chicago was tinged with pain.




Mary had remained in France after the uneasy European trip she and Lem had taken, along with little Margaret, in a bid to bolster their fragile marriage in late 1923. Their hopes of renewing their love in great old cities like Paris and Rome had

soured amid petty squabbling and the bruising worry they shared about not having enough money to justify such an indulgent trip. Lem had eventually returned to America and by mid-December he’d begun working as an agency journalist in New

York—after he and Mary had agreed that they would leave their former home in San Francisco and make a fresh start on the East Coast.




They had been apart over the Christmas of 1923, with Mary and Margaret staying in France, while Lem toiled away in his new job at the North American Newspaper Alliance. She could still remember her turbulent emotions when she sat down in a Parisian

café to read the long, neatly typewritten letter he had sent to her in early January. “I want to pour my heart out to you,” Lem wrote, “but I am determined not to load you down with my loneliness—I know you have enough of it as it is . . . but I feel I can do something, at last, to give you a hand over the rough places. Perhaps you are tired of hearing this but something seems to have happened to me—I’ve got a second wind, or

something. I know we can pull something worthwhile out of this little game of life before we quit.”




Lem made much of his rejuvenated spirit, claiming that a more interesting brand of journalism and a steady income had transformed him. He could now provide for her and Margaret in a way he had not done properly before, and he was determined that she

should take advantage of his new stability. “Now, Mary darling, God knows I want you home but I am terribly anxious to have this European adventure yield you something better than it yielded us, before I left. You are now in Europe and you have an

opportunity to see it comfortably, and without worry about money—so far as that is concerned our combined expenses now are less than they would be if you were keeping house here.”




It was agreed that Margaret would spend a couple of months in Lausanne, Switzerland, where she’d attend a small school and stay with the family of Madame Chesaux, a kind and dignified woman. Mary visited her daughter every other weekend while

spending the rest of her time, encouraged by Lem, traveling and reading and trying to discover exactly what caused the disconcerting emptiness she often felt back home in America.




In the early years with Lem, not long after she and Darrow had fallen apart, Mary had struggled most. After the initial thrill curdled, marriage had become an endless cycle of domesticity. Instead of writing, and stretching both her mind and her

renown, she had been engulfed by the chores of running an ordinary family. She was ground down by the cleaning and cooking, the washing and the ironing, and resentful of the fact that Lem, a fellow journalist, could escape the house every morning for his

newspaper’s office while she toiled alone in a house deserted but for her and baby Margaret.




And yet Lem, as lovely and thoughtful as he could be with her, was unlike Darrow and Mary herself. He did not exult in his work. Rather, he was a dreamer and a drifter, a man who flitted between assignments as a necessary way of

earning money while he plotted his next exotic trip abroad. She missed the fact that he was not driven like Darrow, or her. Lemuel’s world was a quieter place than the fevered domain Darrow straddled with such purpose as he set about saving lives

and railing against mass prejudice.




But there was a kindness in Lem that also consoled her—especially when they were separated by a space as wide and cold as the Atlantic Ocean. In January 1924 she had written to her husband to tell him, “Ah Lem, I must not ever be away from

you. We love you so—Margaret and I. M talks of you constantly. At night M prays for her daddy and kisses me as proxy. I fold you in my arms, darling. I love you, love you always.”




In that same letter, she also wrote that “Margaret is becoming a good sport and has learned to control herself to a great degree. She is polite and thoughtful.”




When Margaret was in Switzerland, Mary missed both her little girl and her husband terribly, so much so that being back with them mattered more to her than the gorgeous sights of Florence or the darker mysteries of Paris. Her love for them was also

far deeper than the fleeting melancholia that sometimes wafted over her during her more mundane days as a wife and a mother. And so she found acceptance and even contentment as Lem instructed her to make the most of Europe before they were reunited in

New York for good.




“For God’s sake,” he’d also urged her, “write if you feel like it. Do whatever you want to do and don’t give a hang about what anybody else did or didn’t do. If I had your ability and my made-over attitude

toward all this I’d be the greatest writer in America in a year.”




He had reacted, with even more alacrity, to her passing suggestion that she might enter psychoanalysis on her return home in an effort to clear her mind. “I’m strong for your psycho-analysis scheme,” Lem had

gushed. “Why not go into Germany, brush up on your German and look over the big stuff that is being done there?”




She had laughed a little despairingly at his extravagant enthusiasm, expecting that he would eventually insist that she take a train from Berlin to Vienna so that she might see Sigmund Freud himself. Mary now knew, six months on, that she did not need

even Freud to tell her what she understood so plainly about her intermittent unhappiness. It had taken her this long, almost a dozen years, to get over her furtive longing. She had felt lovesick, off and on, all that time as she pined for Darrow, and

silently cursed him for not leaving Ruby, his wife, for her.




That dizzying realization had hit her as soon as she saw her old lover again on the shaded Chicago sidewalk the evening before, and he had reached out to touch her. She had felt a similar reawakening, this time in her desire to write, when he had

first told her about Leopold and Loeb. It was obvious to Mary that this would be a trial like no other, with an unparalleled national interest in a distressing murder. Darrow stood at its very center, staring into the darkness in a poignant attempt to

make sense of a seemingly pointless crime. She understood Darrow better than almost anyone and, with his help, Mary was convinced that she could write about the famous old attorney, and the mystifying killers he planned to save, in a way that would make

her name.




And so those different urges, to be with Darrow and to finally forge ahead as a writer, had come together with almost shattering force. The thought of seeing him again, and writing like she had never written before, left her almost breathless amid the

low but gathering rumble of the city outside. Chicago, like her, was about to come alive again on a new day.




IN THE SUMMER of 1908, years ago now, Mary had met Darrow for the first time. In the Loop she and her friend Helen Todd had attended a political rally on behalf

of an exiled Russian revolutionary, Christian Rudovitz, whom Darrow represented in his fight against extradition. Darrow had taken to the stage and made it shockingly clear that Rudovitz faced certain execution if he was sent back to Moscow by the U.S.

government. He spoke with such lucid empathy for a lost and hounded man that it felt to Mary as if Darrow’s words pinned her to the floor.




She recovered quickly when Helen, who knew Darrow, guided her through the crammed hall toward the feted attorney. Darrow’s strength and vitality were obvious even beneath the rumpled charm he presented to the world. Mary was struck by the

piercing way in which he looked at her, the intensity of his scrutiny tempered only by the crinkled humor in his eyes when he heard that she, like Helen, described herself then as a social worker. He preferred meeting writers to social workers, but he

was willing to bet she could string a few salty words together.




Mary fired back a salty quip as if to prove him right before, more pointedly, suggesting she was usually happier talking to radical poets than old-fashioned lawyers. Darrow roared in delight, telling her that inside every decent lawyer she would find

“a wreck of a poet.” She thought he looked more wrecked and poetic than any attorney she had ever seen—a joke that sharpened Darrow’s already obvious interest. Mary made him laugh more than anyone had done in a long time, and he

found himself helplessly attracted to her irreverent spirit. She, in turn, was intrigued by his beguiling mix of wit and compassion.




Soon after becoming lovers Mary and Darrow had visited Rudovitz in prison, as the U.S. authorities moved inexorably through the extradition process. There were no cameras with them, and no courtroom juries to seduce, but Darrow still wept in the

presence of the broken Russian dissident. Mary had never witnessed such feeling in a man before, and it made her fall hard for Darrow. And there was something thrilling about the way in which he then gathered himself and went to work

with redoubled ferocity in order to save Rudovitz’s life. Darrow became a lion of the courtroom. As charismatic as he was fierce, he won that case which, like so many others both before and after they met, made national headlines.




Darrow had boosted Mary financially and emotionally at the outset of their affair when he made it possible for her to move from social work in Chicago to a more literary life in New York in 1909. He introduced her to his friend Theodore Dreiser, the

esteemed novelist, who had then just begun a magazine in New York called The Delineator. Dreiser published her early short stories to some acclaim, and Darrow had reveled in her success. He flattered her in his regular letters from Chicago.

“You have gone so far I can’t see you anymore,” he once pretended to complain. “You never were very large. We will have to stop praising you pretty soon, or you will lose your head—poor little Miss Field, when will you write

your autobigraphy? Damn if I wouldn’t like to see you Molly, dear.”




He had seen Mary often, staying with her in New York or, during the wilder years of their affair, taking her around Chicago in flagrant defiance of Ruby. He even allowed both his wife and his mistress to sometimes share a dinner table with him and his

bohemian friends. One evening he had shocked everyone by looking straight at his lover. “Mary, you’re an awful clever girl,” Darrow said boldly. “You’re the cleverest woman I ever knew.”




Ruby bristled as she turned to her rival and sneered: “You’re the thousandeth!” When Mary looked at her in bemusement, Ruby snapped, “No, you’re maybe the thousandeth and first woman he’s told that to.”




Darrow chuckled knowingly. Part of the pleasure for the old devil came from seeing two women glowering over him. But he knew how much more Mary had helped him than his past frivolous lovers. They shared an intuitive bond that translated into the deep

trust that encouraged him to ask for her help on some clandestine legal matters. In 1911, when he felt ill with worry about the fate of the McNamara brothers after they had firebombed the L.A. Times building and faced the death

sentence, he asked Mary to visit the houses of potential jurors.




Accompanied by her six-year-old niece, Kay, she would knock on the front door of the juror under Darrow’s furtive investigation and ask if the little girl could use their bathroom. Mary made it look like the sweetest of emergencies, and the

juror or his wife could never resist. The door would swing open, her niece would be taken down the passage to the smallest room while Mary scanned any books, magazines, and personal items in the family home. Darrow placed particular emphasis on the

juror’s taste in books, for he believed that a man’s character and outlook was defined by his choice of reading. He always insisted that Mary should study the shelves for a bible—which, for him, represented a surefire symbol of a

man’s moralistic bent.




In Chicago now, in the summer of Leopold and Loeb, Mary was sure that Darrow would win this even more difficult trial. He had already outlined to her a surprising, and still secret, switch of courtroom tactics. Such precious inside information would

make her writing more compelling than anything produced by the hundreds of hard-bitten reporters who had descended on Chicago to cover the “trial of the century.”




TWO DAYS after their dinner at the LaSalle, they met again in a discreet corner of the lounge at the Congress Hotel on Michigan Avenue. Mary looked exuberant while Darrow simply

hunched over the small wooden table between them, grumbling and moaning about his exacting task. He felt pressured and disgruntled, and his mood was not improved by the contrasting vitality with which Mary pursued him about the case—and how he

might help her.




At the outset of their reunion, the evening before last, Mary had appeared shy and tentative as he stretched out his giant hands to her. She was now back to her old assertive self, that ambitious woman he had always admired as much

as loved. But, suddenly, Darrow wanted some distance between his work and her plans. He had been taken aback by the arrival of a wire from Lemuel, urging Darrow to assist Mary as much as he could. It looked as if good old Lem was completely in on the

game, hustling him, Mary’s former lover, for an inside track on the biggest story in America.




She had been quite candid in telling Darrow that Lem knew all about her desire to write the definitive story on Leopold and Loeb. In fact, she had already persuaded an excited Lem to contact his boss, some anonymous old hack called Smith, about paying

her expenses and selling her story through a national syndication if she “got the goods” on America’s most infamous killers. It made Darrow wonder if they were using him—even more bluntly than he might have used her.




Leopold and Loeb’s slyly grinning faces were splashed across the front pages of the country’s newspapers as the public’s fascination intensified. Mary had already told Darrow that she hoped he would provide her with exclusive access

to his clients in their cells at the Cook County Jail. He had grunted evasively when she first mentioned that possibility, but now, as Mary pushed him harder, he brought the wall down. Darrow was too busy planning the salvation of Leopold and Loeb to

involve himself in the resurrection of her journalistic career.




He told Mary firmly that he would not consider setting up a private meeting between her and the boys. The risk of alienating an already salivating pack of Chicago reporters meant that he could not be seen to give any special favors to a little-known

writer from New York. And if their affair was revealed, stretching back to the indignity of the bribery trials in Los Angeles, he would be in an even deeper hole. Mary would have to make her own luck and go down to the prison and fight her way through

the rest of the hacks. Most of them managed to talk to Leopold and Loeb in their cells—so what was stopping her?




Mary reeled in disappointment. She wanted to remind Darrow that she was a middle-aged mother, a woman who had been cast adrift from the reporting roughhouse for more than a decade, but he already knew everything about her. He seemed

unwilling to offer anything beyond his own discreet insights into Leopold and Loeb while arranging a seat for her in the press box when the trial began. Darrow regarded these as sufficient sweeteners, even to a woman as important to him as Mary. He

wanted to see her, to discuss the philosophical conundrums of the case and to share a little laughter as a way of alleviating the oppressive darkness that surrounded him. But Darrow had too much at stake to indulge any further distractions.




They would look for ways to continue their relationship, but, first, Darrow had to argue his case. The boys had to become his unwavering focus in the coming months and then, especially if victory secured his refurbished legacy, he would have as much

time as he wanted to visit Mary in New York. Darrow was thrilled that she and Lem had moved from San Francisco. Ever since California had shredded his reputation, he’d avoided the entire state as if it were infested by the plague. But he visited

New York often. There would be many opportunities to meet, and more appropriate times to consider their attachment within the constraints of marriage.




To Mary, however, the promise of occasional meetings in New York did not mark a new start. She was almost a generation older than the single and intensely romantic young writer she had been when first meeting Darrow. Their renewed intimacy,

inevitably, had changed. She was married now. Darrow shrugged. He had been in that prison for many years. But he was still infused with passion—for saving lives and reading poetry, for writing and baseball, and for feisty and intelligent women like

her.




Darrow had lost neither his sly old charm nor his maddening capacity to frustrate her. She could marvel again at his forceful intellect and wry insights into humanity. And yet, with Darrow’s need for her briefly sated as he returned to his

solitary preparation for court, Mary herself brooded. Although she understood the need to allow him space while he searched through the intricacies of a mazelike case of psychological disturbance and futile violence, she wished he

could be more attentive to her—and especially her desire to write about this epic trial.




Mary was a strong woman, and determined. She bit down on her rising anger and took another concerted crack at Darrow. Surely he could help her? She had come all the way from New York, in response to his letter, and so it was time he opened some doors

for her in Chicago. He knew how much she wanted to write. And how could he forget her articles in support of him when the vultures of the press had circled over Darrow during his humiliating bribery trials in Los Angeles? Had he also not badgered her for

years to write his biography? Could they not use this trial, with its seismic impact on modern America, as the starting point for serious work together?




Darrow was unmoved. He loved her, of course, but this was about more than just work. Darrow had lives to save rather than mere articles or biographies to plot. They could talk more of these ideas in the future, when the trial was over.




LATER THAT NIGHT, June 19, which just happened to be her wedding anniversary, Mary seethed to herself in the cheap hotel room she shared with her sleeping daughter. Margaret looked

blissful in the dim light, but Mary felt tortured by the altered mood between her and Darrow. She knew he was at home with Ruby in their luxurious Midway apartment while her own husband would be out drinking with his new reporting buddies on Grove Street

in Greenwich Village. In her agony and confusion she scribbled a single furious line in her diary: “Everything, everybody bores me!”




FOR THE NEXT few days that bitterness burned inside her. Mary was dejected and, as she wrote on Friday, June 20, “terribly disappointed Darrow will not

give me anything. Nor will he ‘see’ my position. I too am employed to—oh hell!”




On Sunday morning she took Margaret back to the Congress Hotel to meet Darrow. But the old battler barely noticed her daughter. He could sit and listen for hours to a pair of killers, showing them nothing but generosity and understanding, excusing

their madness and naïveté, but he was oblivious to her sweet young girl. “Margaret not a client, nor old enough to elicit any particular interest,” Mary noted tartly. It seemed as if you needed to commit murder to hold

Darrow’s attention.




Two nights later they dined with the eminent sociologist Ellsworth Faris and an unknown female colleague, whom Mary dismissed as “some dame friend of Darrow’s.” The courtroom lion mutated into a lecherous old man. Mary had learned

years ago, in Ruby’s snarling company, that Darrow was at his worst when he jokingly played two women against each other. “With one his wisdom, his philosophy, his companionship is possible. Prof. Faris, too, disappointed. Darrow treats women

as playmates rather than workmates. Great disappointment to me, especially when I know what richness of mind and experience he could share. Instead cheap, stale jokes! ‘Soggy wit’! Dull puns. Invited to a banquet and taken to a one-arm

lunch counter where there is poor food.”




She ended the night by writing a dark and fretful note to her husband, telling Lem how Darrow had let her down badly and that all her hopes of a journalistic scoop had come to nothing. Her words were terse and brittle; but she and Margaret would leave

soon for New York.




MARY HAD been both heartened and left rueful by Lem’s reply. “My dearest,” he wrote, “my disappointment at your failure to turn up

anything exciting was offset by the news that you are coming home soon. . . . Don’t be unhappy, Mary darling, about not turning up the big yarn. It was clearly understood that this was a short-end gamble and . . . that Darrow is in a position where

it might be ruinous for him to play any favorite. . . . I think I would have realized more than you—from a newspaperman’s viewpoint—the impossibility of his giving you a break.”




Those supportive words then gave way to something more plaintive in Lem—which made Mary feel terrible for briefly abandoning him for Darrow. “I have been awfully disappointed not to have had a personal line or two from you,” Lem

chided her gently. “It seems a million years since I saw you. Believe me, Mary dear, I will be happy when you are back again. Love and a million kisses to dearest little Margaret. Wire me when you coming.”




Darrow would not transform her life. She would have to find her own way, after all, within her writing and her family. Mary felt suddenly desperate to be home. Lem and Margaret were more important than any searing upsurge of journalistic ambition. She

could still write about the case, and follow the trial, but from within the confines of her more ordinary world.




AT LEAST DARROW was gentle when she came to see him for the last time in Chicago. He might even have felt a trace of guilt, for his attention was unwavering

and warm. She had helped steady him, he said, and he hoped she understood why he had not been able to do more for her in return. She nodded and smiled up at him. Of course, those doomed boys needed him.




They spoke more of the case, of his concerns and hopes, and she felt again the power of his humanity, his conciliatory search for understanding and forgiveness among people who seemed utterly damned to her. Leopold and Loeb were murderers but, as

Darrow described them, they were still young boys who were tragically ill. If the State won and they were led down to the gallows, where the noose of a rope would tighten around their necks until the very life was squeezed from them,

they would all be degraded. Darrow had to save them, to lend hope rather than hate to the future.




He made it sound so simple and profound, and so crushingly significant, that she began to forgive him herself. Mary knew why Darrow was loved and hated by so many. She certainly hated him less than almost anyone, and loved him more, but he was a

devilishly contradictory man. Yet, as always with Darrow, in the end the good overshadowed the bad.




Darrow took her by the hand. He would save a seat for her in the press box, if she changed her mind. Mary shook her head. It was best this way. She planned to take Margaret to the country, and write, while he faced down the abrasive State prosecution.

They would meet, and talk again, when the trial was over.




There was just time for a gesture from Darrow. He took her to the courthouse so that, for the benefit of her writing, she would at least have a strong image in her head of the room where the trial was due to unfold. On the corner of Dearborn and

Hubbard streets, a couple of blocks from the green Chicago River that wound its way past the downtown skyscrapers, Darrow showed Mary how the giant stone slabs of the Criminal Courts Building had blackened. Years amid a dirty and roaring city, with soot

belching from passing trains and steaming chimneys, had left their mark on its walls.




Darrow wore a baggy gray suit and a blue tie as, holding Mary’s brown suitcase in his hand, they approached the waiting policemen who greeted him effusively. They had become accustomed to the celebrated attorney cutting through the courthouse to

reach the jail where Leopold and Loeb were examined by a battery of America’s leading psychiatrists. Instead of checking Mary’s credentials, the officers waved them toward the rickety elevator. An equally rickety old man, who was probably

Darrow’s age, manned the elevator. He nodded solemnly at Darrow, warning the lawyer, as he did every time they met, that the elevator stopped one floor short of the courtroom. They would have to take the last flight of a creaking

staircase by foot.




Darrow reacted with matching gravity. It was a risk they were prepared to take, he said, as he ushered Mary into the elevator. They stood at the back of the rattling old cage as the operator wearily pulled shut the rusted cantilevered gate. When the

trial began, he would ferry hundreds of souls a day up and down a vault whose shadows were etched into his sunken features.




On a more ordinary day Mary might have giggled when Darrow winked at her as the old man muttered a ritual “Going up” on pressing the black button marked by a faded number 5. Once, in her first flush of love with Darrow, she would have been

almost beside herself. But Mary felt as solemn as the elderly elevator rider whose rheumy eyes fixed on the small yellow light that shifted slowly from one number to the next as they crawled up the floors.




She and Darrow remained silent as the elevator struggled upward. But, somewhere between the third and fifth floors, their eyes met in a gaze that needed no words. In less than two hours Mary would board a ten o’clock train back to New York while

Darrow returned to the defense of Leopold and Loeb.




In a shuddering halt, the elevator stopped and the attendant yanked back the gate. Darrow led the way up to the sixth floor, and then they were there, in the cramped room itself. Mary was surprised by its small size and shabby appearance. She expected

a grand and stately setting to match a trial that would be followed around the world. Instead, she noticed the grimy windows and peeling paint where the walls met the cracked ceiling.




After a few minutes, when Mary saw him looking up at the courtroom clock, she tried to prize her suitcase from his grasp. Darrow refused but, when she persisted, he called over a young court attendant. Offering up the suitcase he asked the boy, who

looked as young as the accused, whether he could arrange a cab for Mrs. Parton. When both the request and the case were accepted, Darrow drew Mary aside to thank her for coming to see him.




And then she pulled away and wished him good luck. Darrow promised quietly that he would be in touch. Mary nodded and then she headed for the exit. She took the stairs this time, partly to gather herself. But without Darrow to wink at her, or hold her

in his gaze, Mary Field did not think she could bear to ride again in that strange little elevator with its strange little man. The boy holding her suitcase followed her down.




She held back the tears by smiling at the policemen lining the staircase. They would soon be needed to keep out the hordes, but as Mary descended in the opposite direction, they beamed at her. She thought she must have cut a curious figure—being

the lone person to walk away from a courtroom that transfixed the rest of America. Her heart, however, lay elsewhere.




DARROW TUSSLED with his own personal conundrum that night. The voracious newspaper interest in the trial made him wonder if any scrupulous reporter might have witnessed his early

morning meeting with Mary, and their parting in court. Photographers were always milling around the building these days, and it suddenly seemed plausible that a passing snapper might have taken a random shot of them together—without realizing its

true significance to their private lives.




He could not allow the risk of a shocked Ruby seeing a photograph of him and Mary in the morning paper. And so, not long after he had arrived home late that night, he told his wife that he had met Mary Field. Ruby was furious. How could he, she

wailed, after all her past pain?




Darrow had resolved to avoid any protracted argument. He needed to conserve all his strength for the trial, and so he kept his version of their morning encounter as short as it was hazy. Mary Field, he reminded Ruby, was married to

Lemuel Parton but she still sometimes worked as a journalist. She had arrived in Chicago with hopes of attending the trial, but there had been some kind of mix-up. Her press credential would be assigned to a different reporter.




Ruby could imagine the wretched Mary Field beseeching Darrow to intervene on her behalf and reclaim her place in the press box. She was outraged. How could he have even spoken to that woman? Darrow shook his head. He had simply arranged for a court

official to help Mary and her luggage find a way back to the station.




Darrow said he had not been able to help himself when he had an affair with Mary in Los Angeles, but everything had since turned around. Twelve years had passed. He had seen Mary that morning, but now she was gone. Darrow looked down. He could not

stand it any longer. He had to now face the most important trial of his life. He could not see whether his wife had begun to cry, but he turned away from Ruby. There was nothing more to be said. They both knew that Mary Field had once saved his life.




 





CHAPTER 3




DARROW ON TRIAL




1110 Ingraham Street, Los Angeles, January 1912




TWELVE YEARS EARLIER Clarence Darrow had shivered when he reached the small rented apartment where he wanted to kill himself. The drizzle had turned to steady rain as soon as he

turned left on Wilshire Boulevard and trudged south to an obscure backstreet. Darrow pulled his sodden coat around him so that he might conceal the bottle and the gun he carried in separate pockets. He did not want to frighten Mary Field even before he

made it through the front door.




The contrasting weight, with a snub-nosed revolver in one pocket and the bulkier whiskey bottle in the other, made him feel unbalanced. Darrow, a man who could make people weep with his poetic celebrations of love and forgiveness over violence and

hate, was a stranger to guns. He had also never been much of a drinker—even if he eventually became an eloquent opponent of Prohibition. Darrow usually restricted himself to the odd glass after a meal when he would chink the ice

in his whiskey as he read aloud from Tolstoy or Swinburne, Burns or Ibsen.




He hammered at the door. Mary, knowing it would be Darrow, had not bothered to cover the white nightgown floating around her. Her hair was already unpinned and, had it been any other man, she would have rushed away to make herself decent. Darrow was

different. Mary had loved him for three and a half years. She smiled as she saw the familiarly rumpled coat.




But Darrow’s craggy face was pale and stricken. He looked more haunted than at any other time during the many months she had watched the spirit being sucked from him. She and Darrow had begun to fall apart as a consequence, but at least she had

still been able to get him to laugh or, sometimes, even make love to her.




Mary took his hand and led him into the $35-a-month apartment she and her younger sister Sara had used the last twelve weeks. Sara described it in a letter to her own married lover, the corporate lawyer and aspiring poet Charles Erskine Scott Wood, as

a temporary home where “everything disappears—the bed walks into the wall and becomes more paneling; the coffee pot goes up the chimney; the couch slides out the window.” To Darrow it looked like the place where his life would soon

disappear with a bullet in the head.




He slumped on a wooden chair in the kitchen. A bare bulb, dangling from a thin black cord, shone down on the round table where they had shared so many emotional meals in recent months. Mary stared helplessly as Darrow unbuckled the belt around his

midriff. A few drops of rain slid down his crevassed face like the tears she felt would soon fall from her.




Darrow hesitated before he reached into his left pocket and brought out the whiskey. He looked at Mary as he placed the bottle in the middle of the table. In the uneasy silence she turned to the cupboard and found two glasses. Darrow half filled each

with a large shot. His hand quivered as, with one gulping swallow, he drained his glass.




“Mary,” he said suddenly, “I’m going to kill myself.”




Darrow pulled out the gun and placed it on the table.




Mary’s hand rose to her throat, as if to lessen the constriction in her breathing. She managed to utter one word: “Why?”




The truth spilled from Darrow’s jabbering mouth. Words crowded together, but he spoke enough sense for Mary to understand the gist of it. Darrow was about to be indicted on a charge of bribing two members of the jury sitting in judgment of his

clients, the politically radical McNamara brothers who had been charged with firebombing the Los Angeles Times building and, in the process, murdering twenty people. The district attorney’s office was now determined to send Darrow to prison;

and he could not bear the shame.




Mary knelt at his side. At her touch, first on his arm, and then his face, he began to cry. The tears descended into the most painful sobbing she had ever heard. Darrow was fifty-four. Mary was only thirty-three. The sight of an aging man breaking

apart was almost too much to bear.




Eventually, after he had wiped his eyes on her nightgown and then blown his nose more appropriately into a handkerchief, Mary poured him another drink. She swallowed a mouthful from her own glass. The whiskey burned in her breast and made her eyes

water in a way that matched Darrow’s glistening stare.




She had to get him away from the gun. But she feared an abrupt movement might propel Darrow further down into the darkness. He looked ready to do his worst.




As she tried to think more clearly Mary stretched up to the top bookshelf where she kept her cigarettes. Darrow might have made ceaseless quips about the futility of life, but the man she loved was consumed by a desire to save his clients from the

gallows. It was easier to believe that he might resort to anything, even bribery, before he gave up on anyone—especially himself.




Why would such a passionate man, with all the pleasure he found in the jousting and sharing of ideas and feelings, kill himself? She lit two cigarettes, one for Darrow and one for herself. As the smoke curled above their heads, the

trauma of the last months lay between them.




Darrow had always been reluctant to act on behalf of the McNamaras—John Joseph, or J. J., an admired union leader, and his younger brother James, a surly print worker, who were accused of detonating their dynamite at 1:00 A.M. on October 1, 1910. The blast intensified the bitter war between labor and big business, for the Los Angeles Times was published by the virulently antiunion millionaire and former Civil War commander General Harrison Gray

Otis.




The day after the explosion Otis had written an overblown editorial: “O you anarchic scum, you cowardly murderers, you leeches upon honest labor, you midnight assassins, you whose hands are dripping with the innocent blood of your victims, you

against whom the wails of poor widows and the cries of fatherless children are ascending to the Great White Throne, go, mingle with the crowd on the street corners, look upon the crumbled and blackened walls, look at the ruins wherein are buried the

calcined remains of those whom you murdered.”




Darrow had spent almost eighteen years in the service of labor—winning a string of widely publicized cases for militant strikers and their unions. He had saved proud and charismatic men from trumped-up charges of murder and insurrection. And

even when his clients were guilty, he had explained their desperate actions by illuminating the oppression of many company bosses and state politicians. Darrow had become a hero to ordinary workers, who knew that he had been enticed away from the

corporate world by Eugene Debs, the revered socialist and labor leader.




In 1894 Darrow had worked for the mighty Chicago and NorthWestern Railway conglomerate, and he initially represented the company against Debs and the national rail union in the Pullman strike. But the lawyer had been so struck by the morality of the

strikers that he crossed the tracks—resigning from his lucrative position to defend Debs against his former employers in court. He now knew, however, that many of the union men he represented were deeply flawed or even

corrupt.




Debs, in turn, had become disillusioned with Darrow’s own weaknesses—particularly his greed for fame. Darrow was so wedded to the labor movement, however, that whenever another epic battle occurred, he was called upon to fight the case.

The most dramatic of his recent trials had seen him successfully defend Big Bill Haywood, the general secretary of the Western Federation of Miners, against a charge that he had murdered Frank Steunenberg, the former governor of Idaho. An exhausted

Darrow became dangerously ill in its aftermath. He swore to Ruby that he would never again become embroiled in such a dispute.




And so Darrow initially resisted the plea of labor leaders to save the McNamaras. But Samuel Gompers, the president of the American Federation of Labor, threatened him that “you will go down in history as a traitor to the great cause of labor if

now, in our greatest hour of need, you refuse.”




He finally succumbed. Although the brothers had pleaded not guilty at a first hearing on June 6, Darrow soon realized that their claim to have been framed by conniving capitalists did not square with the evidence against them. The prosecution had

obtained a copy of their detailed plan to bomb the L.A. Times. Darrow turned to Jim McNamara in his prison cell and said grimly: “My God, you left a trail a mile wide.”




Only a change of plea, to guilty, might save them from hanging; yet such a U-turn would enrage labor activists and ruin his credibility. Darrow finally decided that two lives mattered more than his own name. He would do whatever was needed to save the

McNamaras from the scaffold.




Darrow veered bet ween recklessness and despair—and that gathering abandonment spilled into his private life. A few weeks earlier he’d been apprehensive when Mary had written to tell him that she had accepted invitations

from New York’s American Magazine and Organized Labor to travel to California to cover the trial. She saw it as an opportunity for them to spend precious time together. Darrow, however, shuddered at the danger. He loved Mary, but his

stoical wife, Ruby, offered stability. Darrow had been divorced once before, from Jessie, the mother of his only child, Paul. The thought of another breakup unsettled him.




He knew he was being tailed by prosecution detectives, searching for any dirt they might uncover, and so he urged Mary not to join him. But she took the train to L.A. with renewed determination to report on the trial. Her spirited personality had

always attracted him, and so, soon after Mary’s arrival, he ignored his previous concerns and began to use her rented apartment as his hideaway.




Darrow also developed designs on her sister—which he obviously kept secret from Mary. On October 25, 1911, Sara wrote to Wood, her lover, to tell him that she had rebuffed two attempts by Darrow to seduce her. Wood was brutal in his response,

deriding his former friend as vain and selfish and warning that “when Darrow is sated he will treat [Mary] like a sucked orange. When his personal fears are aroused he will run from her—and if necessary deny her thrice before the cock

crows.”




Yet, amid his darkest “personal fears,” Darrow had run to Mary. With a gun and a bottle in hand, he looked up at the woman he loved. She spoke about the need for him to go on and asked Darrow to remove the revolver. He wanted her to keep

talking and so he pocketed it with a sigh. Mary spoke of God and forgiveness, drawing on her family’s religious past. It almost made him laugh, for she knew the depth of his agnostic views, having sat through more of his lectures on the subject

than either of them cared to remember.




She might have been better quoting Nietzsche at Darrow, ramming home the point that what did not kill him would simply make him stronger. But the thought of standing in the dock before they shut him away in prison for years made him

shake rather than glimmer with the zeal of a Nietzschean superman. He was comforted, instead, by her soothing voice.




That same calm had prompted Darrow to write to Mary when she was still in New York and say, “I miss you all the time. No-one else is so bright and clear and sympathetic, to say nothing of sweet and dear. Am tired and hungry and wish you were

here to eat and drink and be with me and talk to me with your low, sweet, kind, sympathetic voice.”




Sara, an avowed suffragette, was less easily smitten. She often said Mary had a first-rate mind until she met Darrow—but now she peddled a third-rate imitation of his own first-class mind. Yet Mary loved him utterly, and that love protected

Darrow. As she talked of the need for him to fight for the legacy he had built up over decades, he noticed that she did not ask if the charge was true. Mary knew him too well. She knew how much he wanted to win. And she also knew how far he would go to

save two young men from hanging.




The bottle of whiskey was half drunk by the time the rainy blackness gave way to a wintry dawn. Mary, looking unusually beautiful for a supposedly plain woman, covered Darrow’s hand with her own.




“You must go on,” she urged.




Darrow looked up at her, softening a shrug with the faintest of smiles. “Well, Molly,” he said, “maybe you’re right . . .”




ON JANUARY 30, 1912, when he was formally indicted on two counts of bribery, Darrow was a husk of his usually imposing self. The police had confirmed that,

in late November, he had been present when they snared two men who were about to pass the first installment of a bribe to a potential juror in the McNamara trial. Bert Franklin, Darrow’s jury investigator, was caught handing over $500 to George

Lockwood in the street, on the understanding that a further $3,500 would be paid to him should there be an acquittal. Just before he was intercepted by a policeman an agitated Darrow ran across the street—shouting at

Franklin.




Now that Darrow had been charged, Franklin, hoping to earn immunity for himself by testifying in court, made a smiling prediction: “I shall not go to the penitentiary—of that I am positive. I shall tell the truth, no matter where it

hits.”




Darrow appointed Earl Rogers, a celebrated if often controversial attorney, as the head of his legal team. He was in need of expert help as he faced two separate trials—first for bribing Lockwood and then for attempting the same crime in

relation to Robert Bain. Another key member of his defense team would testify against Darrow. John Harrington, his chief investigator, alleged that Darrow had shown him a roll of bills amounting to $10,000, suggesting that if they could turn a couple of

jurors, then they might save the McNamaras.




Gloom obliterated everything in Darrow’s world. In mid-February he received Debs’s reply to his request that the union leader might “do something to bring the old-time people to my support. It is awfully hard to be deserted in this

crisis by those who should stand by me.” Debs did not spare Darrow. He revealed that a recent investigation into the attorney’s character “was anything but flattering . . . others have concluded that you loved money too well to be

trusted by the people.”




As the weeks passed Darrow was so consumed by fear and self-pity that it felt to Mary as if the romantic phase of their life had ended . He still needed her, and she continued to be his closest confidante, but their relationship had been swallowed

whole by the bribery scandal. Mary moved out of Ingraham Street and rented a cottage in Corte Madera—twelve miles north of San Francisco. She would return to Los Angeles for Darrow’s trial, but until then she would await her old lover’s

occasional visits. It seemed to Sara as if Mary had “been ‘widowed,’ the widowhood of the living death of all she held dear. Slowly her idol has crumbled to dust before her eyes.”




ON THE FIRST day of his trial, May 15, 1912, Darrow arrived at the Los Angeles Federal Court at exactly 9:30 A.M. It was a gorgeous

Wednesday morning, but his face twitched in agitation. Twenty minutes later Ruby Darrow and an unexpected companion took the same walk up the sunlit hill leading to the building where her husband was about to be tried for bribery. Ruby paused to face a

pack of reporters. In answer to their shouted questions she attempted a smile and insisted that “I shall attend court constantly with my husband. I believe it may help him to know that I am here. I have but one thought—to help my husband in

any way I can.”




The Los Angeles Herald confirmed innocently that Ruby was accompanied by “Miss Mary Field of San Francisco, who is making a stay in this city and spends most of her time with Mrs. Darrow.”




In truth, the two women hated each other. Ruby was dressed in an expensive suit while Mary wore a baggy dress bought from a secondhand shop in San Francisco. Her bonnet, which she had owned for years, was large and unflattering. Ruby, meanwhile, wore

a new and elegant hat topped by a ribbon. She was taller than Mary—even if, on closer inspection, she looked more tremulous than her rival. That contrast was evident in the way that, as they parted silently at the courtroom door, Mary headed

purposefully for the press gallery while Ruby walked hesitantly toward a seat just behind Darrow. She was visibly affected by his defeated demeanor.




Mary glanced in Darrow’s direction before she turned back to her open notepad. She could hardly bear to see the way Ruby stroked the back of Darrow’s neck. He sat there mutely, making no move to acknowledge Ruby’s tenderness. But the

sight of husband and wife together underlined Mary’s sense of her own invisibility. Here, she was merely a reporter.




The affair caused Ruby piercing hurt, for Darrow had insisted on seeing Mary, arguing with conviction that her journalism was a weapon they could call upon. Yet Ruby understood that, with Darrow under such strain, it would not last. Mary Field might

win him a few more supporters, but in the end, once this grim business was done, she would be gone from their lives.




Mary’s polemical report on that first day in court was published in Organized Labor. She compared the case of “The People against Clarence Darrow” to the persecution of both Jesus and Socrates—and suggested that the

indictment of Darrow explained “why today there is rejoicing in stock markets, in business offices, in financial circles, in wealthy clubs.” That emotive defense pointed to the very tactics Darrow would use later when trying to divert the

focus from his likely guilt to his record as a passionate defender of the poor and the exploited.




Yet in a blistering opening address, the district attorney, John Fredericks, derided Darrow as a liar and a hypocrite. Fredericks confirmed that the State would present concrete evidence to prove unequivocally that, on November 28, 1911, Darrow had

given money to Bert Franklin with the clear instruction that he should bribe jury member George Lockwood. Darrow flushed and fumbled with a cigarette paper as he listened.




The first week of the trial followed that same desolate pattern, and the arrival of Franklin on the stand merely escalated the battle. He testified that Darrow had first discussed bribery with him on October 5. They had decided to offer $4,000 as a

bribe—with a further $1,000 to be paid to Franklin for each successful sting. Stressing that Darrow had underlined his determination to win the McNamara trial, “for it would probably be the last one he would ever try of that

importance,” Franklin portrayed a man who would do anything to secure victory.




The tension between Darrow and his own attorney was at its worst on the morning that cross-examination of Franklin was due to begin. Earl Rogers had disappeared on an all-night bender, and a frantic hunt spread across his drinking haunts. His staff

eventually brought Rogers back to court—where, incredibly, he then produced one of his more robust performances without quite shredding Franklin’s muddled if damaging evidence.




John Harrington, Darrow’s fellow lawyer who had assisted him during the McNamara defense, also took advantage of the immunity on offer to testify against the accused. He confirmed that Darrow had approached him with corruption

in mind.




“Do you mean to say,” Rogers sneered, “that Mr. Darrow showed you a roll of bills and told you that he was going to bribe witnesses with it, or jurors with it?”




“He didn’t use the word ‘bribe,’” Harrington said coolly. “He used the word ‘reach.’”




One witness after another presented his testimony before cross-examination—usually conducted by the flamboyant Rogers but, occasionally, by Darrow himself.




Eventually, six weeks after the trial began, Darrow walked to the witness stand. He began answering questions on July 29, 1912, and Mary Field suggested in the San Francisco Bulletin that “the calmest person in the room was the defendant

himself. . . . The old Darrow, the great Darrow, the philosopher, the poet, the dreamer of days when courts and jails shall be no more, the life-long exponent of non-resistance answered his enemies.”




Darrow, in fact, was a tentative witness. There was none of his natural connection with the jury as he parried questions with difficulty. Unable to prowl around the courtroom or lean casually over the railing in front of the jurors, as if he might be

one of them, Darrow merely survived his examination.




Yet his mood lightened. On Sunday, August 4, the day after Mary’s glowing newspaper account, he started to believe there might be a chance of victory. He took his lover out for the day. As they drove through the countryside he sang loudly and

practiced segments of the speech he would make in his closing summary. Darrow was simply trying to regain his speaking rhythm, but his words gripped Mary.




Those feelings of hope spread among his friends and there was talk of a celebratory party should Darrow save himself. Mary stepped back from the surge of wild optimism. More painfully, the thought of Ruby embracing Darrow was too

distressing to ignore. “Ruby’s too much for me,” she wrote. “I shall all my life avoid her. I hate to lose Darrow’s presence but I hate more to be out of harmony with my environment.”




ON AUGUST 14, 1912, the clamor to hear Darrow speak was so intense that thousands of people had to be blocked from storming the courtroom. Mary, at the

front of the press row, and Ruby, just behind her husband, looked on as court officials tried to restore order.




Pushing and heaving continued in the corridor outside but, with the courtroom door sealed, the accused stood up. Darrow was home at last, in charge of his own destiny, with the full force of his delivery ready to burst from his chest. He felt like a

swaggering lion again, but control was everything. Darrow needed to draw in each member of the jury so seductively that it felt as if he was talking to them alone. He thrust his hands deep into his pockets and wandered over to where they sat in two rows

of six.




“Gentlemen of the jury,” he murmured as a wisp of hair dangled over his furrowed forehead, “it is not easy to argue a case of importance, even when you are talking about someone else.”




As he scanned the faces of each juror, silence enveloped the courtroom. “An experience like this has never come to me before. Of course I cannot say I will get along with it. But I have felt, gentlemen, by the patience you have given this case

for all these weeks, that you would be willing to listen to me. I might not argue it as well as I would some other case, but I felt I ought to say something to you twelve men besides what I said on the witness stand. In the first place I am a defendant,

charged with a serious crime. I have been looking into the penitentiary for six or seven months, waiting for you twelve men to say whether I shall go or not.”




Mary unclenched her fists, for she had inadvertently bunched them before his speech began. But now, as the real Darrow reappeared, she relaxed a little. Although it soon became obvious that he would skirt his own possible guilt, in

favor of a broader theme, his words pulled the jury toward him.




“What am I on trial for?” he wondered. Darrow allowed his listeners to ponder the question as they looked into his sad old face.




“You have been listening here for three months. If you don’t know, then you are not as intelligent as I believe. I am not on trial for having sought to bribe a man named Lockwood.”
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